
 CITY HALL • 100 STATE STREET • BELOIT, WI 53511 
 Office: 608/364-6700 • Fax: 608/364-6609 
 www.beloitwi.gov 
 Equal Opportunity Employer 

 
 

 
MEETING NOTICE AND AGENDA 

BELOIT LANDMARKS COMMISSION 
Tuesday, September 15, 2015, 7:00 PM 

City Manager’s Conference Room, 100 State Street 
 

1. Roll Call 

 

2. Minutes of the August 18, 2015 Meeting 

 

3. Public Comments 

 

4. Imperial Builders - Certificate of Appropriateness 

COA-2015-27 Review and consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness to restore and 

replace the knee wall on the second story porch of a residential structure located at 348 Euclid 

Avenue. 

 

5. James Allen Custom Masonry – Certificate of Appropriateness 

COA-2015-34 Review and consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness to allow masonry 

and foundation repair at the residential structure located at 725 Bushnell Street. 

 

6. Report on Staff-Approved Certificates of Appropriateness & Activities Since Last Meeting 

 

7. Committee Reports 

 A. Education & Outreach Committee 

 B. Grant Writing Committee 

 C.  Site Visit Committee 

 

8. Adjournment 
 
If you are unable to attend this meeting, notify the Planning Office at 364-6700 no later than 4:00 PM 
the day before the meeting. 
    
Approved: Alex Morganroth, Planner 
   September 1, 2015 
 

**  Please note that upon reasonable notice, at least 24 hours in advance, efforts will be made to accommodate the needs of 

disabled individuals through appropriate aids and services.  For additional information or to request this service, please 

contact the City Clerk's Office at 364-6680, 100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511. 
 



 CITY HALL • 100 STATE STREET • BELOIT, WI 53511 
 Office: 608/364-6700 • Fax: 608/364-6609 
 www.beloitwi.gov 
 Equal Opportunity Employer 

 
 

MEETING MINUTES 
BELOIT LANDMARKS COMMISSION 

Tuesday, August 18, 2015, 7:00 PM 
The Forum, 100 State Street 

 

1. Roll Call 

 Commissioner Blazer called the meeting to order at 7:00pm. 

 Commissioners Blazer, Vollmer, Johnson, Truesdale, Kelly, Vollmer, and Kaye were 

present. 

 Commissioner Joyce was absent. 

 

2. Minutes of the July 21, 2015 Meeting 

Commissioners Blazer and Johnson moved to approve the minutes as presented. Motion 

carried, voice vote.  

 

3. Public Comments:  

Rick McGrath (1747 Sherwood Drive SW) presented a couple of ways to raise awareness 

about historic preservation. He presented a door hanger that would improve community 

relations by recognizing historic home owners who engage in projects to improve their 

properties.  Mr. McGrath invited Commissioners to co-sponsor a “plant exchange” that 

would allow home owners with native plans or gardens to share clippings or seeds with other 

home owners. He stated that the purpose of the exchange is to beautify Beloit’s 

neighborhoods. 

 

Mr. McGrath stated that Beloit is witnessing an rising number of land contracts. He claimed 

they are predatory in nature and often do not result in a person eventually owning the land. 

Mr. McGrath stated that he is not looking for any action on land contracts, but that the 

Commission should be aware and wary of them. 

 

4. Devin Hanson – Certificate of Appropriateness 

COA-2015-32 Review and consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness to construct 

a storage shed behind the residential structure located at 928 Bluff Street. 

 

Planner Alex Morganroth read the staff report and gave a brief overview of the history of the 

COA request. 

 



Belinda Hanson (928 Bluff Street), the mother of Devin Hanson, spoke on behalf of the 

applicant. She described the process of obtaining the shed and explained that she was not 

aware that the property is in a historic district and required a COA for any exterior 

alterations. She explained that the shed is barely visible from the street with only the roof in 

plain sight.  

 

Commissioner Vollmer asked Ms. Hanson if she has considered re-roofing or re-siding the 

shed. Ms. Hanson responded that they have not considered those options. She explained that 

they are still in the process of paying for the shed through a “rent to own” payment plan and 

will not own it out-right for many months. 

 

Commissioner Johnson asked Ms. Hanson if she is willing to paint the shed. Ms. Hanson 

responded that she is willing to paint the shed walls or roof any color necessary. Mr. 

Morganroth reminded the Commission that they cannot require a specific color for the walls 

or roof of the shed. Commissioner Blazer commented that he doesn’t recommend painting 

the roof of the shed due to how it is designed. 

 

Commissioner Vollmer stated he does not believe the shed conforms to the criteria in the 

Historic Preservation Ordinance and doesn’t support the shed without a modification of the 

siding. 

 

Councilor Kelly stated that in past COAs, the Commission has required the color of a new 

modification to match the existing structure. Commissioner Vater clarified that while the 

Commission cannot require a specific color, they are able to require that a modification 

match or complement the existing structure.  

 

Commissioner Vater made a motion to approve the COA with a modification to the 

conditions requiring that the applicant modify the shed to match the existing colors of the 

house.   

 

Commissioner Vollmer stated he would like to add a friendly amendment to require the roof 

be shingled to match the house. Commissioner Truesdale stated that he is opposed to the 

friendly amendment because of the undue burden it would put on the applicant. 

Commissioner Vater stated that the intent of her motion is to allow the homeowner flexibility 

in how they match the shed with the home. She clarified that both the walls and the roof of 

the shed will need to match the house. Commissioner Vollmer withdrew his friendly 

amendment. 

 

Commissioner Vollmer seconded the motion made by Commissioner Vater. Motion carried, 

voice vote. 

 

5. Imperial Builders – Certificate of Appropriateness 

COA-2015-27 Review and consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness to allow a 

new railing on a second-story porch at 348 Euclid Avenue. 

 

Mr. Morganroth read the staff report and recommendations.  



 

Derek Card, the owner of Imperial Builders, was present at the meeting. He stated that it was 

not his intent to complete the project without a COA, but that he had a limited time period to 

complete the project and didn’t have a choice. 

 

Commissioner Vater asked Mr. Card if the Commission had ever worked with the City on his 

behalf in order to allow him to replace railings on historic homes with new railings that do 

not meet code. Mr. Card replied that he has not had this issue before. 

 

Councilor Kelly stated that Wisconsin State Building Code allows historical owners to obtain 

a variance in order to make historically accurate modifications that do not meet current 

building codes. 

 

Commissioner Vater stated that Commission needs clarification regarding the code 

requirements for historic properties. 

 

Commissioner Vater made a motion to lay over the COA. Commissioner Blazer seconded the 

motion. Motion carried, voice vote. 

 

 

6. Report on Staff-Approved Certificates of Appropriateness & Activities Since Last 

Meeting 

 Mr. Morganroth announced that two COAs were approved by staff since the last meeting. He 

stated  that the staff-approved COAs included a new fence and new gutters  at 622 Harrison 

Street and roof repair at 744 Wisconsin Avenue. 

 

7. Committee Reports 

Education and Outreach Committee: The committee had nothing to report.  

Grant Writing Committee: Mr. Morganroth stated that the firm hired to work on the Intensive 

Survey Update, Legacy Architecture, will be holding a kick-off meeting prior to the October 

Landmarks Commission meeting. 

Site Visit Committee: The committee had nothing to report. 

 

8. Adjournment 

Commissioners Vollmer and Johnson moved to adjourn at 8:27pm. Motion carried, voice 

vote. 

 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Alex Morganroth, Planner 

 Date Approved: September 3, 2015 

 

 

 



CITY OF BELOIT
REPORT TO THE BELOIT LANDMARKS COMMISSION

Meeting Date: September 15, 2015 Agenda Item: 4 File Number: COA-2015-27

Applicant: Derek Card, Imperial
Builders

Owner: Sam Watkins Location: 348 Euclid Avenue

Existing Zoning: R-1B Single-family
Residential District

Existing Land Use: Single-family
Residential

Parcel Size: .2 Acres

Request Overview:
Derek Card, owner of Imperial Builders, submitted an application for a Certificate of Appropriateness for the replacement
of a second-story porch knee wall located on the residential structure located at 348 Euclid Avenue. Mr. Card submitted
the application on behalf of the owner of the subject property. This property is an Individual Historic Landmark, informally
known as the Stephen Slaymaker House. Section 32.05 of the Historic Preservation Ordinance grants the Landmarks
Commission the authority to issue a Certificate of Appropriateness prior to the construction, reconstruction, or exterior
alteration of any designed landmark, landmark site, or structure within an historic district.

Background Information:
The applicant emailed a COA application for a variety of projects, including the knee wall replacement and two staff
approved projects on July 1, 2015, the filing deadline for the July 21, 2015 meeting agenda. The applicant’s COA was not
processed due to the absence of the fee, pictures, and material specifications. The applicant was made aware that the
COA application would require review by the Landmarks Commission at the August 18, 2015 meeting and acknowledged
this requirement. On August 7, 2015, a Staff person drove by the structure at 348 Euclid Ave and observed that a new
railing had been constructed prior to the Landmarks Commission approving a COA, a violation of Section 32.06(4)(a) of
the Historic Preservation Ordinance. The applicant was notified of the violation immediately and acknowledged that the
work had been completed without a COA. Staff chose to defer a Notice of Violation or citation until after the issue is
brought to the attention of the Commissioners at the August 18, 2015 meeting.

Consistency with the Historic Preservation Ordinance and Strategic Plan:
Consideration of this request is consistent with the intent and purpose of the Historic Preservation Ordinance.
Consideration of this request supports City of Beloit Strategic Goal #5.

Key Issues:
 The applicant had proposed the replacement of a second-story porch knee wall.

o The previous knee wall had deteriorated significantly due to rotting wood (see attached pictures).
o The wall also did not meet the Wisconsin State Building Code requirement that porch railings be at least

36 inches in height.
 Staff approved two projects that were also on the July 21, 2015 COA application including the replacement of the

black rubber roof on the porch and the aluminum soffit/fascia around the porch.
o A building permit was issued for the staff approved projects but not for the new porch railing.

 In the COA application for the knee wall replacement, the applicant had proposed replacing the existing wall with
a metal railing. The applicant originally stated the intention to use a black wrought iron railing. Staff asked for the
railing specifications/photos but never received them.

 After inspecting the house on August 7, 2015, Staff observed that the knee wall had already been removed and
replaced with a wooden railing (see attached photos of completed project).

o Instead of evaluating a wrought iron railing, as was the intended material according to the application, the
new wood railing was evaluated based on the criteria in the Historic Preservation Ordinance.

o The unpainted wood railing is approximately 36 inches in height and is made from treated pine.
 Section 32.06(5) of the Historic Preservation Ordinance includes general review criteria to be used when

evaluating COA applications. The attached COA Checklist evaluates the completed work against the general
review criteria included in the Ordinance.

 Section 32.06(5) of the Historic Preservation Ordinance also establishes Specific Review Criteria to be used in
evaluating COA applications. The following criteria are relevant to this application.

o (1) Scale: Second story porch railings are required to be at least 36 inches. The railing meets this
requirement.

o (2) Architectural Details: The architectural style of the house, known as Stick Style, is defined by
decorative wood trim, exposed wood framing, and decorative structural elements. The railing and
ornamental balusters does not detract from the architectural integrity of the structure and may actually



compliment the Stick architecture of the structure.

Sustainability:
 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – N/A
 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature – N/A
 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A
 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – N/A

Staff Recommendation:
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of a Certificate of Appropriateness to replace the
second-story porch knee wall on the structure at 348 Euclid Ave, based on the standards and criteria contained in the
Historic Preservation Ordinance. Staff has chosen to not recommend any conditions due to the completed nature of the
project.

Fiscal Note/Budget Impact: N/A

Attachments: Photos, Location Map, Application, Intensive Survey Form, COA General Criteria Checklist



Streetview of 348 Euclid Avenue



Old Knee Wall



New Wood Railing

















Planning and Building Services Division
100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511 Phone: (608) 364-6700 Fax: (608) 364-6609

For property located at: 348 Euclid Avenue

GENERAL REVIEW CRITERIA
YES NO N/A

Has every reasonable effort been made to provide a compatible use for a
property that requires alteration for use other than for its originally intended
purpose?

X

Will the applicant retain distinguishing original qualities or character of a
building, structure or site? The removal or alteration of any historic material
or distinctive architectural features should be avoided when possible.

The original knee wall was removed due to rotting wood that according to
the applicant, was unable to be repaired. While not original, the new
railing barrier height will meet code, unlike the previous wall.

X

Is the applicant proposing alterations that have a historical basis, rather than
trying to create an earlier or later appearance?

X

Has the applicant recognized and respected changes in the development of a
building over time that may have acquired significance in their own right? X
Has the applicant treated with sensitivity distinctive stylistic features, or
examples of skilled craftsmanship that characterize a building, structure or
site?

X

Has the applicant repaired, rather than replaced, deteriorated architectural
features, wherever possible? If replacement is necessary, the new material
should match the material being replaced in composition, design color, texture
and other visual qualities.

The replacement barrier does not match the material in color, texture, or
general visual qualities. The old knee wall had the appearance of being an
extension of the exterior wall while the new barrier is a typical porch
railing with spindle balusters.

X

Has the applicant avoided sandblasting and other cleaning methods that will
damage the surface of the historic building?

X

Has the applicant made every possible effort to protect and preserve
archeological resources affected by or adjacent to any project?

X

If a contemporary design for alterations and additions is proposed, does this
design retain significant historical, architectural or cultural material and is the
design compatible with the size, scale, color, material and character of the
property and neighborhood?

X

Are new additions or alterations to buildings done in such a manner that if
such additions or alterations were to be removed in the future, the essential
form and integrity of the building would be unimpaired?

X

CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS CHECKLIST



COA-2015-34, 725 Bushnell Street

CITY OF BELOIT
REPORT TO THE BELOIT LANDMARKS COMMISSION

Meeting Date: September 15, 2015 Agenda Item: 5 File Number: COA-2015-34

Applicant: James Allen of Custom
Masonry Specialists

Owner: Noah Hollander Location: 725 Bushnell Street

Existing Zoning: R-1B Single-family
Residential District

Existing Land Use: Single-family
Residential

Parcel Size: .24 Acres

Request Overview:
James Allen, owner of Custom Masonry Specialists, submitted an application for a Certificate of Appropriateness to
perform masonry and foundation repair on the residential structure located at 725 Bushnell Street. This structure is in the
College Park Historic District. Section 32.05 of the Historic Preservation Ordinance grants the Landmarks Commission
the authority to issue a Certificate of Appropriateness prior to the construction, reconstruction, or exterior alteration of any
designed landmark, landmark site, or structure within an historic district.

Consistency with the Historic Preservation Ordinance and Strategic Plan:
Consideration of this request is consistent with the intent and purpose of the Historic Preservation Ordinance.
Consideration of this request supports City of Beloit Strategic Goal #5.

Key Issues:
 The applicant will be completing masonry work in various locations around the house.

o Brick and mortar on the chimney is beginning to crack and fail. Deteriorated sections will be tuck-pointed
with new mortar that matches the existing mortar in color and composition.

 Flashing on the roof that has deteriorated will be also repaired or replaced with matching
materials.

o The footing at the rear of the house has begun to fail and crack in two places, causing the brick work to
slant downward and detach.

 The failing sections of footing will be repaired if possible; otherwise they will be replaced by new
sections that match the existing.

o The bricks that have slid and cracked will be completely removed. After being removed, they will be fully
restored and replaced in the proper alignment. A dark mortar made of lime and Portland cement will be
used when re-pointing the bricks in order to match the existing mortar in color and composition.

 Concrete sills will also be removed, restored, and replaced.
o Small sections in various locations around the house will also be tuck-pointed and restored using

matching mortar.
 Photographs of the various project locations are attached to this report.
 During the 1981 Beloit Intensive Survey, the house was classified as a “Contributing” structure within the College

Park Historic District. A copy of the Intensive Survey Form is attached to this report.
 Section 32.06(5) of the Historic Preservation Ordinance includes general review criteria to be used when

evaluating COA applications. The attached COA Checklist evaluates the completed work against the general
review criteria included in the Ordinance.

 Section 32.06(5) of the Historic Preservation Ordinance also establishes Specific Review Criteria to be used in
evaluating COA applications. The following criteria are relevant to this application.

o (1) Architectural Details: Repairing the walls, sills, and chimney will greatly enhance the house and help
preserve the home’s architectural and historical integrity.

 The proposed project meets the standards of Section 32.06(6)(c) of the Historic Preservation Ordinance.

Sustainability:
 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – N/A
 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature – N/A
 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A
 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – N/A

Staff Recommendation:



COA-2015-34, 725 Bushnell Street

The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of a Certificate of Appropriateness to perform various
masonry and foundation repairs on the structure at 725 Bushnell Street, based on the standards and criteria contained in
the Historic Preservation Ordinance and subject to the following conditions:

1. When restoring the existing bricks, the applicant shall use the gentlest cleaning methods possible, such as low-
pressure water and masonry detergents using natural bristle brushes. Sandblasting and the use of harsh
chemicals are prohibited.

2. Any new bricks used in the project must duplicate the color, dimensions, and composition of the existing bricks.
3. Any mortar used for tuckpointing must duplicate the original mortar in strength, composition, color, texture, width,

and joint profile.
4. All work shall be done in a workman like manner and consistent with the standards provided by the Secretary of

the Interior.
5. All work shall be completed by September 15, 2016.
6. Any changes or additions to this Certificate of Appropriateness must be reviewed and approved by staff prior to

the start of any work. Work done without prior approval will be subject to the issuance of correction orders or
citations.

Fiscal Note/Budget Impact: N/A

Attachments: Photos, Location Map, Application, Estimates, Intensive Survey Form, COA General Criteria Checklist



COA-2015-34, 725 Bushnell Street

Photos from 725 Bushnell Street



COA-2015-34, 725 Bushnell Street



COA-2015-34, 725 Bushnell Street



COA-2015-34, 725 Bushnell Street



COA-2015-34, 725 Bushnell Street



COA-2015-34, 725 Bushnell Street



COA-2015-34, 725 Bushnell Street



COA-2015-34, 725 Bushnell Street



COA-2015-34, 725 Bushnell Street



COA-2015-34, 725 Bushnell Street



COA-2015-34, 725 Bushnell Street

Planning and Building Services Division
100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511 Phone: (608) 364-6700 Fax: (608) 364-6609

For property located at: 725 Bushnell Street

GENERAL REVIEW CRITERIA
YES NO N/A

Has every reasonable effort been made to provide a compatible use for a property
that requires alteration for use other than for its originally intended purpose? X

Will the applicant retain distinguishing original qualities or character of a building,
structure or site? The removal or alteration of any historic material or distinctive
architectural features should be avoided when possible.

By repairing the home’s brickwork, the applicant will preserve the distinguishing
architectural features and qualities of the home. The alterations will be
historically appropriate and will protect the home from rain, ice, and frost.

X

Is the applicant proposing alterations that have a historical basis, rather than trying
to create an earlier or later appearance?

X

Has the applicant recognized and respected changes in the development of a
building over time that may have acquired significance in their own right? X
Has the applicant treated with sensitivity distinctive stylistic features, or examples
of skilled craftsmanship that characterize a building, structure or site? X

Has the applicant repaired, rather than replaced, deteriorated architectural features,
wherever possible? If replacement is necessary, the new material should match the
material being replaced in composition, design color, texture and other visual
qualities.

The applicant has stated the intent to restore rather than replace the majority of
brick on the rear of the house. If sections of footing need to be replaced due to
significant deterioration, the applicant will ensure the new footing is consistent
with the existing.

X

Has the applicant avoided sandblasting and other cleaning methods that will
damage the surface of the historic building?

The applicant will not use sandblasting or chemicals to restore the bricks, as
prohibited by the Historic Preservation Ordinance.

X

Has the applicant made every possible effort to protect and preserve archeological
resources affected by or adjacent to any project?

X

If a contemporary design for alterations and additions is proposed, does this design
retain significant historical, architectural or cultural material and is the design
compatible with the size, scale, color, material and character of the property and
neighborhood?

X

Are new additions or alterations to buildings done in such a manner that if such
additions or alterations were to be removed in the future, the essential form and
integrity of the building would be unimpaired?

X

CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS CHECKLIST


	9-15-15.pdf
	8-18-15.pdf
	COA-2015-27, 348 Euclid Avenue, Knee Wall Replacement.pdf
	COA-2015-34, 725 Bushnell Street, Masonry and Foundation Repair.pdf

